
 

Please note: Electronic copies of this agenda and its related papers  
are available via the Council’s website www.maldon.gov.uk. 

APOLOGIES Committee Services  DIRECTOR OF STRATEGY, 
PERFORMANCE AND 
GOVERNANCE 
Paul Dodson  

Email: Committee.clerk@maldon.gov.uk  

    
   17 May 2021 

Dear Councillor 

 
You are summoned to attend the meeting of the; 

 

NORTH WESTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE  

 

on TUESDAY 25 MAY 2021 at 7.30 pm 

 

in the Council Chamber. Maldon District Council Offices, Princes Road, Maldon. 

 
Please Note that due to social distancing and space limitations, we require any members of the 
public or press who wish to attend physically and observe or speak under Public Participation rules 
at this meeting to complete a request form (to be submitted by 12noon on the working day before 
the Committee meeting).  This will be reviewed and managed according to capacity of the meeting 
and whether any other persons have already registered. 
 
The Committee meeting will still be live streamed via the Council’s YouTube channel for ease of 
viewing. 
 
A copy of the agenda is attached. 
 
Yours faithfully 

 
Director of Strategy, Performance and Governance 
 
COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP:  

COUNCILLORS M F L Durham, CC 
Mrs J L Fleming, CC 
K W Jarvis 
J V Keyes 
C P Morley 
R H Siddall 
E L Stephens 
Miss S White 
Mrs M E Thompson 

Unrestricted Document Pack

http://www.maldon.gov.uk/
https://forms.office.com/Pages/ResponsePage.aspx?id=VH_RilQmuUumwvI0YlcqFJCd4KzoXBdDs1brNZU39TJUOVpCU0xQVlRWQlhHVU8wVThIMU03UjFLSC4u
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCWKn8R24ZTbD3eaEJtq6bYw/featured


 

Page 2 

AGENDA 
NORTH WESTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE 

TUESDAY 25 MAY 2021 
 
1. Chairman's notices   
 
2. Apologies for Absence   
 
3. Minutes of the last meeting  (Pages 7 - 12) 
 
 To confirm the Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 10 March 2021, (copy 

enclosed). 
 

4. Disclosure of Interest   
 
 To disclose the existence and nature of any Disclosable Pecuniary Interests, other 

Pecuniary Interests or Non-Pecuniary Interests relating to items of business on the 
agenda having regard to paragraphs 6-8 inclusive of the Code of Conduct for 
Members. 
 
(Members are reminded that they are also required to disclose any such interests as 
soon as they become aware should the need arise throughout the meeting). 
 

5. 20/01337/FUL - Barn At Old Mill House Vineyard Hazeleigh Hall Lane Woodham 
Mortimer.  (Pages 13 - 34) 

 
 To consider the report of the Director of Service Delivery (copy enclosed, Members’ 

Update to be circulated)*. 
 

6. Any other items of business that the Chairman of the Committee decides are 
urgent   

 
 

 



 

Page 3 

 
 

NOTICES 
 
Recording of Meeting 
Please note that the Council will be recording and publishing on the Council’s website any 
part of this meeting held in open session.  At the start of the meeting an announcement will 
be made about the recording.   
 
Fire 
In the event of a fire, a siren will sound.  Please use the fire exits marked with the green 
running man.  The fire assembly point is outside the main entrance to the Council Offices.  
Please gather there and await further instruction. 
 
Health and Safety 
Please be advised of the different levels of flooring within the Council Chamber.  There are 
steps behind the main horseshoe as well as to the side of the room. 
 
Closed-Circuit Televisions (CCTV) 
Meetings held in the Council Chamber are being monitoring and recorded by CCTV. 

 

Note: 
1. The Council operates a facility for public participation.  This will operate only in 

relation to the consideration and determination of planning applications under 
Agenda Item No. 5. 

2.  The Committee may consider representation from one objector, one supporter, a 
Parish / Town Council representative, and the applicant / agent.  Please note that the 
opportunity to participate is afforded only to those having previously made written 
representation. 

3.  Anyone wishing to participate must register by completing the online form no later 
than noon on the working day before the Committee meeting. 

4.  For further information please see the Council’s website – 
www.maldon.gov.uk/committees  

* Please note the list of related Background Papers attached to this agenda. 

https://forms.office.com/Pages/ResponsePage.aspx?id=VH_RilQmuUumwvI0YlcqFJCd4KzoXBdDs1brNZU39TJUOVpCU0xQVlRWQlhHVU8wVThIMU03UjFLSC4u
http://www.maldon.gov.uk/committees


 

Page 4 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
The Background Papers listed below have been relied upon in the preparation of this report: 

1. The current planning applications under consideration and related correspondence. 

2. All third party representations and consultation replies received. 

3. The following Statutory Plans and Supplementary Planning Guidance, together with 
relevant Government legislation, Circulars, Advice, Orders, Directions and Guidance: 

 
Development Plans 

 Maldon District Local Development Plan approved by the Secretary of State 21 July 
2017 

 Burnham-On-Crouch Neighbourhood Development Plan (2017) 
 
Legislation 

 The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) 

 Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 

 Planning (Hazardous Substances) Act 1990 

 The Planning and Compensation Act 1991  

 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) 

 The Planning Act 2008 

 The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as 
amended) 

 The Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) 
Order 2010 

 The Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended) 

 The Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) Regs 2007 

 The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regs 2011 

 Localism Act 2011 

 The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as amended) 

 The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as 
amended) 

 Growth and Infrastructure Act 2013 

 Housing and Planning Act 2016 

 Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017 

 The Town and Country Planning (Brownfield Land Register) Regulations 2017 
 

Supplementary Planning Guidance and Other Advice 

i) Government policy and guidance  

 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) - 2018 

 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)  

 Planning policy for Traveller sites - 2015 

 Relevant government circulars 

 Relevant Ministerial Statements (as referred to in the report) 

 Essex and South Suffolk Shoreline Management Plan – October 2010 



 

Page 5 

Supplementary Planning Guidance and Other Advice (continued) 

ii) Essex County Council 

 Essex Design Guide 1997 (Note: superseded by Maldon District Design Guide 2018) 

 Essex and Southend on Sea Waste Local Plan 2017 

 Essex Minerals Local Plan 2014 

iii) Maldon District Council 

 Five Year Housing Land Supply Statement 2017 / 18 

 Maldon District Design Guide – 2017 

 Maldon and Heybridge Central Area Masterplan - 2017 

 Infrastructure Delivery Plan (All versions, including update in Council’s 
Hearing Statement) 

 Infrastructure Phasing Plan (January 2015 and January 2017 update for 
Examination) 

 North Heybridge Garden Suburb Strategic Masterplan Framework - 2014 

 South Maldon Garden Suburb Strategic Masterplan Framework – 2014 
(adapted as Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 2018) 

 Vehicle Parking Standards SPD - 2018 

 Renewable and Low Carbon Technologies SPD – 2018 

 Maldon District Specialist Housing SPD – 2018 

 Affordable Housing and Viability SPD – 2018 

 Accessibility to Buildings SPD – December 2006 

 Children’s Play Spaces SPD – March 2006 

 Sadd’s Wharf SPD – September 2007 

 Heybridge Basin Timber Yard SPD – February 2007 

 Developer Contributions Guide SPD - 2010 

 Heybridge Basin Village Design Statement – 2007 

 Wickham Bishops Village Design Statement – 2011 

 Woodham Walter Village Design Statement – 2011 

 Althorne Village Design Statement 

 Woodham Walter Village Design Statement 

 Various Conservation Area Appraisals 
 

All Background Papers are available for inspection at the Maldon District Council Offices, 
Princes Road, Maldon, Essex CM9 5DL during normal office hours. 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

412 

MINUTES of 

NORTH WESTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE 

10 MARCH 2021 

 

PRESENT 

 

Chairman Councillor Mrs M E Thompson 

Vice-Chairman Councillor J V Keyes 

Councillors M F L Durham, CC, Mrs J L Fleming, K W Jarvis, 

C P Morley and Miss S White 

In Attendance Councillor C Morris   

298. CHAIRMAN'S NOTICES  

 

The Chairman welcomed everyone to the remote meeting, held under new regulations 

which came into effect on 4 April 2020 in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.  She 

took Members through some general housekeeping issues, together with the etiquette 

for the meeting and then asked Officers present and Councillors in attendance to 

introduce themselves. 

 

This was followed by a roll call of all Members present. 

 

299. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 

An apology for absence was received from Councillor R H Siddall. 

 

300. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING  

 

RESOLVED by assent, that the Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 10 

February 2021 be approved and confirmed. 

 

301. DISCLOSURE OF INTEREST  

 

Councillor M F L Durham, CC declared a non-pecuniary interest as a Member of Essex 

County Council who are statutory consultees on a variety of matters relating to the 

Planning process. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



413 

302. 20/00638/FUL - THE ESSEX WILDLIFE TRUST NATURE RESERVE, BLUE 

HOUSE FARM, BLUE HOUSE FARM CHASE, NORTH FAMBRIDGE  

 

Application Number 20/00638/FUL 

Location 
The Essex Wildlife Trust Nature Reserve, Blue House 

Farm, Blue House Farm Chase, North Fambridge 

Proposal 

Construction of an earth bund measuring 2,140m around 

the perimeter of the site (0.5m high and 4m wide) and 

approximately 3000m of foot drains/ditches around the site 

and through the site (3m wide and 0.5m deep). Twelve 

shallow scrapes approximately 2,500m2 each with a 

maximum depth of 0.5m. Break-up agricultural land drains 

at the edge of the site. Construction of concrete, boarded 

sluice. 

Applicant Essex Wildlife Trust 

Agent N/A 

Target Decision Date 15 March 2021 

Case Officer Kathryn Mathews 

Parish PURLEIGH AND NORTH FAMBRIDGE 

Reason for Referral to 

the Committee / Council 
Major Application 

 

Following the Officer’s presentation, concerns were raised around surface water and 

flooding issues within the village.  The Officer confirmed that there were no anticipated 

issues in terms of surface water drainage expected off-site as a result of the application.   

 

The Chairman moved that the application be approved subject to the conditions as 

detailed in Section 8 of the report.  This was duly seconded and upon a vote being taken 

it was unanimously approved. 

 

RESOLVED that the application be APPROVED subject to the following conditions: 

 

1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 

years from the date of this permission. 

2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in complete accordance 

with the approved drawings:  

 Location Plan. 

 Water Retention Plan Map1 – West Section; Map 2 – Central Section and 

Map 3 – East Section. 

 Cross sections 

3 The sluice shall not be constructed until details of its design have been submitted 

to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  The sluice shall be 

constructed in accordance with the approved details and retained as such in 

perpetuity. 

4 No fencing or other means of enclosure (including a predator fence) shall be 

erected unless details of the location, height and design of the means of 

enclosure has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 

authority.  The means of enclosure shall be erected in accordance with the 

approved details and retained as such in perpetuity. 

Page 8



414 

5 There shall be no exportation from the site of any material excavated from the 

site and no importation of material to the site to raise existing ground levels.   

6 All loading / unloading / reception and storage of building materials and the 

manoeuvring of all vehicles, including construction traffic shall be undertaken 

within the Blue House Farm nature reserve, clear of the public highway. 

7 No development including any site clearance or groundworks of any kind shall 

take place within the site until an archaeological assessment by an accredited 

archaeological consultant has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 

local planning authority to establish the archaeological significance of the site.  

8 No development including any site clearance or groundworks of any kind shall 

take place within the site until a programme of archaeological work by an 

accredited archaeological contractor has been carried-out in accordance with a 

written scheme of investigation, informed by the archaeological assessment 

required by condition 7 above, which has been submitted to and approved in 

writing by the local planning authority.  The development shall be carried out in 

a manner that accommodates the approved programme of archaeological work. 

9 No development shall take place unless and until a construction management 

plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 

authority.  The construction management plan shall include the following: 

(i) the control of nuisances during construction works to preserve the 

amenity of the area and avoid nuisances to neighbours and to this effect:  

a. no waste materials should be burnt on the site, instead being 

removed by licensed waste contractors;  

b. control measures for mud and dust from site operations and 

ensuring no dust emissions leave the boundary of the site;  

c. lighting arrangement for the site during construction; 

d. consideration should be taken to restricting the duration of noisy 

activities and in locating them away from the periphery of the 

site;    

e. hours of works: works should only be undertaken between 0730 

hours and 1800 hours on weekdays; between 0800 hours and 

1300 hours on Saturdays and not at any time on Sundays and 

Public Holidays. 

(i) prevent the pollution of ground and surface waters.  This will include the 

location of any hazardous materials including fuel from vehicles and 

equipment. 

(ii) where any soils that are known to be contaminated are being excavated 

or exposed a site waste plan shall be prepared in order to store, treat and 

dispose of the materials in accordance with the waste duty of care.  

10 All mitigation and enhancement measures and/or works shall be carried out in 

accordance with the details contained in the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal 

(December 2020), hereby approved. 

11 A construction environmental management plan (CEMP: Biodiversity) shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  The 

CEMP (Biodiversity) shall include the following: 

a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities.  

b) Identification of “biodiversity protection zones”.  

c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working 

practices) to avoid or reduce impacts during construction (may be 

provided as a set of method statements).  

d) The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity 

features.  

Page 9



415 

e) The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be 

present on site to oversee works.  

f) Responsible persons and lines of communication.  

g) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works 

ECoW) or similarly competent person.  

h) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs.  

 

The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the 

construction period strictly in accordance with the approved details. 

10 No development shall take place unless and until a flood warning and evacuation 

plan for the construction period has been submitted to and approved in writing 

by the local planning authority.  The development shall be carried-out in 

accordance with the approved details. 

13 No floodlighting or other external form of illumination of the site shall be 

provided during construction. 

14 Construction works shall be carried out only during the months of October 

and/or November. 

 

303. TPO 15/20 - LAND TO THE WEST OF THISTLEY CLOSE, GOLDHANGER  

 

Application Number TPO 15/20 

Location Land to the West of Thistley Close, Goldhanger 

Proposal Confirmation of TPO 15/20 

Owner 
Mr & Mrs Peircy, Three Thistles, Thistley Close, 

Goldhanger, CM9 8AU 

Confirmation by  17.03.2021 

Case Officer Sophie Mardon 

Parish GOLDHANGER PARISH 

Reason for Referral to 

the Committee / Council 

Decision on confirmation of a Tree Preservation Order as 

per the Council’s scheme of delegation 

 

Prior to the Officer presentation Members were advised that where the report referenced 

Tolleshunt D’Arcy Parish Council this should be Goldhanger Parish.   

 

The Chairman moved the recommendation as set out in the report and this was duly 

seconded.   

 

In response to a question, the Officer confirmed that the Tree Evaluation Method for 

Preservation Orders (TEMPO) assessment score for the T1 (Oak tree) was 14 out of 25.   

 

Members were reminded that the issuing of a TPO did not stop management works 

happening in the future and is served to protect the tree and the amenity of the street 

scene for the immediate future. 

 

There being no further debate the Chairman put the proposal to confirm Tree 

Preservation Order 15/20 and upon a vote being taken it was confirmed. 

 

 

 

 

Page 10



416 

RESOLVED that Tree Preservation Order 15/20 be CONFIRMED with the following 

modifications. 

 

1. Amendment to the Schedule to remove T2 (Pine tree) from the order at 

APPENDIX 1. 

2. Amendment to the location plan to remove T2 (Pine tree) from the order, at 

APPENDIX 2.  

 

There being no further items of business the Chairman closed the meeting at 6.34 pm. 

 

MRS M E THOMPSON 

CHAIRMAN 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Our Vision: Sustainable Council – Prosperous Future 

REPORT of 
DIRECTOR OF SERVICE DELIVERY 

to 
NORTH WESTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE 
25 May 2021 
 

Application Number 20/01337/FUL 

Location 
Barn, Old Mill House Vineyard, Hazeleigh, Hall Lane, Woodham 
Mortimer 

Proposal 
Convert agricultural barn into vineyard manager's dwellinghouse 
with associated internal and external alterations, layout amenity 
area and plant native hedgerows and trees (amended proposal) 

Applicant Mr Richard Britton - The Old Mill House Vineyard Ltd 

Agent Mr Stewart Rowe - The Planning And Design Bureau Ltd 

Target Decision Date 28 May 2021 

Case Officer Hannah Dungate 

Parish WOODHAM MORTIMER 

Reason for Referral to the 
Committee / Council 

Member Call-in by Councillor K W Jarvis citing Policies E7 and 
D1 for the following reason: “need to have farm worker/Manager 
on site and re-use of otherwise redundant building” 

1. RECOMMENDATION 

 
REFUSE for the reasons as detailed in Section 8 of this report. 
 

2. SITE MAP 

 
Please see below. 

 
  

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



 

 

Page 14



 
3. SUMMARY 

 
3.1 Proposal / brief overview, including any relevant background information 
 
3.1.1 The application site is located on the eastern side of Hazeleigh Hall Lane, outside of 

any defined settlement boundary.  The application site measures 3.5 hectares and is 

a field used for agricultural purposes; namely the growing of grapes.  The site is 

occupied by a barn, which was approved in 2017 to be used for agricultural purposes 

in relation to the operation of the Vineyard.  Since the approval and subsequent 

erection of the barn, it is stated that, due to a change in the operation and business 

plans of the Vineyard, the barn is now no longer required for agricultural use in 

association with the business.  

  

3.1.2 A track, which has recently been formalised with hardstanding, leads to the barn and 

a brick wall, piers and iron gates have been erected at the site entrance, these 

developments do not benefit from planning permission and are therefore 

unauthorised.  

 

3.1.3 The surrounding area is rural in nature.  Hazeleigh Hall Wood is located to the rear 

(east) of the site, sporadic residential and agricultural development lies to the south 

and west of the site, undeveloped land lies to the north, with the listed building ‘Old 

Mill House’ further north of the site.  

 
3.1.4 Planning permission is sought for the conversion of an agricultural barn into vineyard 

manager's dwellinghouse with associated internal and external alterations.  The 

planning statement that has been submitted with the application states that as well as 

for efficiency and security reasons, the functional need for a dwelling on the land is to 

protect the crop during the frosty weather. 

 

3.1.5 The agricultural barn measures a maximum of 15m wide by 10.3m deep and 

between 9.8 - 8.8m to the top of the ridge (due to the sloping ground level).  The 

proposed conversion would not result in an amendment to the existing scale of the 

barn.  

 

3.1.6 Since the previously refused application (20/00229/FUL) the proposed external 

alterations to the barn include the insertion of windows on the front, and side 

elevations and the replacement of the existing barn doors spanning the ground and 

first floor levels with glazing which would measure 3.6m wide and 4.85m in height.   

 

3.1.7 The proposed dwelling would be internally altered to accommodate an open plan 

kitchen, dining and living room, a utility room, larder and WC and an office at ground 

floor level.  Furthermore, four bedrooms, two with en-suites, and a family bathroom 

would be provided at first floor level.  

 

3.2 Conclusion 

 

3.2.1 Having taken all material planning considerations into account, an objection is raised 

to the principle of the proposed development by reason of its location outside the 

defined settlement boundary, which would result in material harm to the character of 

Page 15



 
the area.  The evidence supplied is also not considered adequate to sufficiently 

justify that there is an essential or functional need for a worker to live on site, and that 

there are not suitable dwellings available in the locality of the site to accommodate 

the worker, or that the scale and nature of the development is related to the needs of 

the business.  Furthermore, the development would have an impact on the amenity 

of the character of the countryside.  In light of the above, it is considered that the 

development would be contrary to the policies of the development plan to an extent 

that cannot be outweighed by the positive aspects of the proposal that have been set 

out by the applicant. 

 

4. MAIN RELEVANT POLICIES 

 
Members’ attention is drawn to the list of background papers attached to the agenda. 

 
4.1 National Planning Policy Framework 2019 including paragraphs: 

 7 Sustainable development 

 8 Three objectives of sustainable development 

 10-12 Presumption in favour of sustainable development 

 38 Decision-making 

 47–50 Determining applications  

 54–57 Planning conditions and obligations 

 80–84 Building a strong, competitive economy 

 148–169 Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 

 170–183 Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
 

4.2 Maldon District Local Development Plan (MDLDP) 2014 – 2029 approved by the 
Secretary of State: 

 S1  Sustainable Development 

 S7  Prosperous Rural Communities 

 S8  Settlement Boundaries and the Countryside  

 D1  Design Quality and Built Environment 

 D2  Climate Change and Environmental Impact of New Development 

 D5  Flood Risk and Coastal Change 

 E5  Tourism 

 N2  Natural Environment and Biodiversity. 

 T1  Sustainable Transport 

 T2  Accessibility 
 
4.3 Relevant Planning Guidance / Documents: 

 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) 

 Maldon District Design Guide (MDDG) SPD 

 Maldon District Vehicle Parking Standards (VPS) SPD 
 
  

Page 16



 
5. MAIN CONSIDERATIONS 
 
5.1 Principle of Development 
 
5.1.1 The Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, Section 70(2) 

of the 1990 Act and paragraph 47 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

require that planning applications are determined in accordance with the 

Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  In this case the 

development plan comprises of the approved Local Development Plan (LDP). 

 
5.1.2 The proposed development is for the conversion of an agricultural barn into a 

residential dwelling, to be occupied by the manager of the Vineyard.   

 

5.1.3 As part of the drive to deliver new homes the Government has stated that there is a 

need for councils to demonstrate that there are sufficient sites available to meet the 

housing requirements for the next five years; this is known as the Five-Year Housing 

Land Supply (5YHLS).  Since the refusal of application 20/00229/FUL the Council 

has published an up to date 5YHLS which concludes that the Council cannot 

currently demonstrate a 5YHLS. 

 

5.1.4 Where a Local Planning Authority (LPA) is unable to demonstrate that it has a 

5YHLS, the presumption in favour of sustainable development will apply; this is 

known as the ‘Tilted Balance’.  This position is set out in paragraph 11d, together 

with its footnote 7, of the NPPF which states: 

 

“For decision taking this means: 

 

“(d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are 

most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission 

unless: 

 

“(i) the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 

particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; 

or 

 

“(ii) any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 

the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a 

whole.” 

 

Footnote 7 - 7 This includes, for applications involving the provision of housing, 

situations where the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five year supply of 

deliverable housing sites (with the appropriate buffer, as set out in paragraph 73) 

 

5.1.5 At the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable development (the 

‘presumption’) which is central to the policy approach in the Framework, as it sets out 

the Government’s policy in respect of housing delivery within the planning system 

and emphasises the need to plan positively for appropriate new development.  The 

NPPF replaces those Local Plan policies that do not comply with the requirements of 

the NPPF in terms of housing delivery.  In addition, leading case law assists the LPA 

Page 17



 
in its application of NPPF policies applicable to conditions where the 5YHLS cannot 

be demonstrated (Suffolk Coastal DC v Hopkins Homes and Richborough Estates v 

Cheshire East BC [2017] UKSC 37). 

 

5.1.6 It is necessary to assess whether the proposed development is ‘sustainable 

development’ as defined in the NPPF.  If the site is considered sustainable then the 

NPPF’s ‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’ applies.  However, where 

the development plan is ‘absent, silent or relevant policies are out of date’, planning 

permission should be granted ‘unless any adverse impacts of doing so would 

significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the 

policies in this Framework taken as a whole; or that specific policies in this 

Framework indicate development should be restricted’. 

 

5.1.7 In judging whether a residential scheme should be granted, it is necessary to 

consider the weight attributed to the planning benefits which the proposal offers in 

making up the current housing land supply shortfall, against the adverse impacts 

identified (if any) arising from the proposal in relation to the policies contained within 

the NPPF and relevant policies in the Local Plan.   

 

5.1.8 There are three dimensions to sustainable development as defined in the NPPF.  

These are the economic, social and environmental roles.  The LDP through Policy S1 

re-iterates the requirements of the NPPF but there are no specific policies on 

sustainability in the current Local Plan.  Policy S1 allows for new development within 

the defined development boundaries.  The presumption in favour of sustainable 

development does not change the statutory status of the development plan as the 

starting point for decision making.  However, because the Council cannot 

demonstrate an up to date five year supply of deliverable housing and on the basis 

that sites outside of the defined development boundaries could be judged to be 

‘sustainable development’ through the three dimension tests of the NPPF, the LPA 

are obliged to exercise its judgement as to whether to grant planning permission 

having regard to any other relevant planning policies and merits of the scheme. 

 

5.1.9 Paragraph 78 of the NPPF states that:  

 

‘To promote sustainable development in rural areas, housing should be located 

where it will enhance or maintain the vitality of rural communities. Planning policies 

should identify opportunities for villages to grow and thrive, especially where this will 

support local services. Where there are groups of smaller settlements, development 

in one village may support services in a village nearby.’  

 
5.1.10 The site lies a considerable distance from any defined settlement boundaries of the 

district.  The nearest settlement to the application site is Maldon, which is in excess 

of 1.4 miles from the application site and the settlement of Woodham Mortimer which 

is around 1.5 miles from the application site.  The closest bus stop to the site is 

around 0.8 miles away which is only accessible by foot along an unlit and unpaved 

road.  The Council accepts that the proposal would not result in an isolated dwelling 

in the countryside as there are dwellings within the vicinity of the site.  However, the 

site is in a rural location, and the future occupiers of the dwelling would need to travel 

for day to day services and facilities to other nearby villages and towns.  These 

Page 18



 
settlements are a reasonable distance away and are not readily accessible by safe 

public footpaths or public transport.  The proposal would therefore conflict with the 

aforementioned policies and the principles contained within the NPPF in terms of 

sustainable development. 

 
5.1.11 Given the above, it is not considered that the proposed development would amount 

to a sustainable development.  
 

5.2 Principle of Development – Agricultural Workers Dwelling 
 

5.2.1 Policy H7 requires “Permanent or temporary accommodation in the countryside 

related to and located in the immediate vicinity of a rural enterprise, will only be 

permitted where: 

 

1)  Evidence has been submitted to the satisfaction of the Council that there is an 

existing agricultural, forestry, fishery or other commercial equine business-

related functional need for a full-time worker in that location; 

2)  There are no suitable alternative dwellings available, or which could be made 

available in the area to serve the identified functional need; 

3)  It can be demonstrated that the enterprise is, or will be in the case of new 

businesses, a viable business with secure future prospects; 

4)  The size and nature of the proposed structure is commensurate with the 

needs of the enterprise concerned; and 

5)  The development is not intrusive to the countryside, is designed to minimise 

adverse impact upon the character and appearance of the area and is 

acceptable when considered against other planning requirements.” 

 

5.2.2 The supporting text of Policy H7 goes onto state that “The Council will support 

permanent (or temporary) accommodation in the countryside in exceptional 

circumstances to sustain the effective operation of a viable rural business. Evidence 

will be required within an application to outline why accommodation is required to 

support the business in that particular location. Any evidence provided should seek to 

establish, to the Council’s satisfaction, that the business needs one or more workers 

to be readily available at most times, for example to provide essential care to animals 

or processes at short notice. The application must demonstrate that new residential 

accommodation on that site is essential, rather than convenient, for the enterprise.” 

 
Evidence of the Functional Need for a full-time worker in this location 
 

5.2.3 The below extracts have been taken from the submitted planning statement, which 

supports the proposal: 

 
‘It would be beneficial to the have a vineyard manager on site each day in order to 
manage agricultural operations, direct the contract staff, provide security for the 
holding and for a site office to exist to administrate the agricultural business. Other 
tasks, associated with addressing the effect of inclement weather, are also necessary 
on occasion’. 

 

‘The proposed dwelling is necessary to improve the efficiency and security of the 
existing agricultural enterprise. Specifically, an on-site presence will enable the farm 
manager to be available from early in the morning until late in the evening, 

Page 19



 
particularly during the intensive harvest period, to manage staff and to ensure that 
the necessary agricultural activities including pruning, feeding, watering, pest control, 
maintaining trellises etc. are properly undertaken on a daily basis In addition 
unauthorised entry to the vineyard and the potential for damage to the crop would be 
discouraged by having a permanent member of staff living on site and in a location 
from where both fields can be seen.’ 
 

5.2.4 Since the previously refused application, it has also been suggested as part of the 

most recent submissions that, as well as for efficiency and security reasons, the 

functional need for a dwelling on the land is to protect the crop during the frosty 

weather.  It has been stated that the conversion of the barn to the vineyard 

manager’s dwelling would allow a permanent on-site manager/member of staff to 

deploy heaters in the way of bougie candles and/or portable wind machines promptly 

and avoid crop losses due to frost. 

 

5.2.5 As part of the submission, the information provided states that in 2020, there were 

three months of the year where the grape crop was impacted by frost, between 

March and May, which resulted in a loss of crop of up to 20%.  During the application 

process, further information was provided to suggest that the predicted loss in 

expected grape tonnage at harvest time in October 2021, would be between 5-30%. 

 
5.2.6 As frost only occurs periodically for a few months out of the year, and normally with 

some warning, it is not considered that there is a functional need for a permanent 

dwelling to be located on site on a year-round basis, above and beyond the existing 

property serving the vineyard, Old Mill House, which is located less than 150m away.  

It is unclear as to why there is a need for an additional dwelling to be provided in 

relation to the vineyard. 

 

5.2.7 Whilst acknowledging that the vineyard manager will sometimes be required on site, 

there is no reason to suggest that a member of staff cannot carry out their duties on a 

shift basis and then return to their residential properties after this.  The Planning 

Statement states that an external contractor is employed at the site to manage the 

vines and pick and pack the fruit during the harvesting window.  The contractor is 

said to be ‘entirely self-contained in that it brings its own vehicles, machinery, 

consumables, and staff to site’.  From this, it can be understood that the entire outfit 

of working operations at the site currently enters and leaves the site on any given day 

and does not reside overnight.  It is also stated in the Planning Statement that the 

property would be beneficial in allowing ‘on-site presence from early in the morning 

until late in the evening’, meaning that overnight stay is not an essential need of the 

business.  It is therefore considered that a vineyard manager could carry out their 

duties, similar to the situation with the other employees, without the need for a 

member of staff to reside on site on a 24/7 basis.  It is also stated that the current 

vineyard manager only works from morning to evening at present, which would 

negate the need for essential overnight accommodation at the premises.  If a 

presence is required overnight at the site, it is noted that there is sufficient space for 

a member of staff to reside overnight on a shift basis within the existing agricultural 

barn, without the need to convert it to a four-bedroom residential property. 

 

5.2.8 The Planning Statement and information submitted with the application has made 

mention of a secondary site recently purchased by the applicant which is used as a 

Page 20



 
vineyard for the business.  This site is located 400m away from the site.  Although 

this site is not the subject of this application, the applicant has argued that the 

proposed property is needed so that the Vineyard manager can ‘speedily deploy 

candles in the event of frost’.  It has also been stated that ‘no houses for sale or rent 

in the immediate locality to the application site would provide the necessary vantage 

point for surveillance of the two fields at Old Mill House Vineyard,’  If this is the case, 

this would also suggest that the location of the proposed property would not be able 

to provide a suitable vantage point for surveillance in relation to the third vineyard 

site, nor would the vineyard manager be able to speedily deploy candles at this site 

in the event of frost.  With this in mind, it is difficult to see how the proposed dwelling 

would be able to sustain the future operation of the business as it expands across 

several other sites or how it would be necessary to improve the efficiency and 

security of the business, as it has been suggested by the applicant. 

 

5.2.9 In relation to security concerns at the site, it is considered that other security 

measures could be put in place that would not require a person to live on site.  The 

same is considered for trespassers into the site and for other security risks.  In a 

recent appeal decision for the provision of a temporary security caravan at Carbuncle 

Farm, Maldon Road, Burnham-on-Crouch (APP/X1545/W/20/3253807), the Inspector 

noted that “I am not convinced that there is an essential need for a rural worker to 

live on the site given the availability of other options to the appellant to deter and 

prevent thefts from the site, such as installing gates and other security measures or 

storing valuable equipment elsewhere.”  As an electric gate and CCTV could be 

installed at the application site, if it has not yet been already, it is not considered that 

there is basis to accept that the erection of a dwelling at this location is a 

proportionate means of addressing these concerns.  

 

5.2.10 Whilst it would be convenient, or “beneficial to have the vineyard manager on site”, 

as described by the applicant, it is not considered that it has been adequately 

demonstrated that there is an essential functional need for a worker to live at the site 

and would not therefore accord with Policy H7 of the Maldon LDP.   

 

Availability of Suitable Alternative Dwellings 

 

5.2.11 In relation to criterion 2 of policy H7, as part of both the current and previous 

application, no evidence has been submitted with the application demonstrating that 

there are no other available dwellings in the wider area which could be made 

available to the member of staff.  For the reasons discussed above, the proposed 

property is not therefore considered necessary to be located in the immediate vicinity 

of the site.  This would also include the existing dwelling on site. 

 

Viability of Business 

 

5.2.12 Criterion 3 of Policy H7 requires it to be demonstrated that the business will be viable 

with secure future prospects.  Although the previous application was accompanied by 

Forecast Income and Expenditure figures and a Business Plan, these have not been 

submitted as part of the current application and no new information has been 

provided regarding the viability of the business since the period of 2020.  The 

previous records only showed one year of sales, in 2019, and recorded the net 

Page 21



 
income at a loss for the years between 2017-2019.  The remaining figures shown 

until 2022 are projected figures and are not therefore reliable.  Furthermore, no 

updated information about the previous year, 2020, have been provided with the 

current application.  

 

5.2.13 While the projected figures submitted with the previous application appear positive, 

given that the business is still in its infancy, there are no certainties that the projected 

figures will become a reality.  Notwithstanding this, it is noted that temporary 

permission for three years, for a temporary dwelling such as a caravan, could be 

granted to enable viability to be demonstrated at the end of that period, if all other 

aspects of Policy H7 were met.  However, it is not considered appropriate to impose 

a condition that would result in a temporary permission for a development such as 

this. 

 

5.2.14 However, in this instance, it is not considered that the information provided confirms 

that the operation would be viable; criteria 3 of policy H7 has not therefore been met. 

 
5.2.15 In considering this matter further, an appeal decision is attached at APPENDIX 1 for 

a similar development in Shrewsbury.  Attention is drawn to paragraphs 9 – 17.  The 

point is the level of detail and circumstances of this appeal case are more than and in 

excess of that proposed under this current application.  The Inspector sets out strict 

criteria which must be met in order for an exception to policy can be supported.  The 

detail and circumstances do not exist and have not been presented with this 

application in order for an exception to be made.  These details are set out above at 

5.2.12. 

 
Size and Nature of Structure 

 
5.2.16 The applicant has provided justification for the size and nature of the dwelling, stating 

that ‘The size of the dwelling is also commensurate with that of the wider holding 

(spread across two sites). A farm manager (either the existing one or any future 

manager) could quite conceivably have a family and so a four-bedroom property is 

considered to be necessary in order to retain (and attract in the future) a suitable 

manager. In any case the proposal concerns the conversion of an existing building 

and so its size is pre-determined by this fact’. 

 

5.2.17 It is noted that the building is existing and would not be extended as a result of the 

proposal.  However, it is necessary to consider the requirements of the Council’s 

adopted policy; it is considered that the needs of the business do not justify the siting 

of a permanent residential dwelling on site, and that this employee could make use of 

the existing facilities on site, whilst on shift.  Furthermore, it is not considered that the 

siting of a generous four-bedroom house, would be commensurate to the identified 

needs of the enterprise concerned and would rather provide a dwelling of an 

aspirational scale rather than commensurate with the need of the enterprise.  As 

such, the development would be contrary to criteria 1 and 4 of policy H7. 

 
  

Page 22



 
Impact on the Character and Appearance of the Countryside  
 

5.2.18 Criterion 5 of policy H7, requires that “the development is not intrusive to the 

countryside, is designed to minimise adverse impact upon the character and 

appearance of the area, and is acceptable when considered against other planning 

requirements.”  

 

5.2.19 The proposal is to convert the existing agricultural barn into a residential use.  The 

barn was constructed in 2017 and is structurally sound.  It is a traditional example of 

an agricultural barn in terms of design and materials.  

 
5.2.20 Hazeleigh Hall Lane is a rural county lane characterised by sporadic residential and 

agricultural development with vast expanses of undeveloped agricultural land.  The 
application site accommodates a building that is agricultural in nature and 
appearance, which contributes to the rural character.  
 

5.2.21 Whilst it is noted that, a large number of windows previously proposed to the rear 

elevation have been removed as part of the current scheme and two new windows 

have now been proposed in the western side elevation, a large extent of glazing is 

still proposed within the front and rear elevations.  The applicant has also stated 

within the Planning Statement that ‘the extent of domestic garden has been 

considerably reduced’ however, no plans have been provided to show this as part of 

the current application. 

 

5.2.22 As a result of the proposed change of use of the building, this would introduce a 

residential fenestration scheme to the front and rear elevations, a formal parking area 

to the front of the barn and associated residential garden land at the rear.  It is also 

noted that an extensive decking structure has been constructed at the rear of the 

existing barn which does not appear to benefit from planning permission and is 

therefore unauthorised.  The conversion of the barn to a residential dwelling would 

inherently result in the intrusion of domestic paraphernalia within open countryside 

which would create urbanised clutter in this rural locality resulting in the urbanisation 

of the site to the detriment of the countryside.  

 

5.2.23 Whilst it is noted that the barn is existing and due to the sloping ground level is 

largely screened from Hazeleigh Hall Lane, it is not considered that this justifies the 

conflict with the planning policy or identified harm.  The proposed conversion would 

fail to provide visual enhancement to the wider rural locality and would intensify the 

urban appearance of this rural area contrary to policy D1, S8 and stipulation (5) of 

policy H7 of the Maldon District Local Development Plan (MDLDP).  

 
5.2.24 The development is considered to be harmful to the character and appearance of the 

countryside contrary to the stipulations of policies S1, S8, H7 and D1 of the LDP. 

 

5.2.25 For the reasons discussed in detail above, it is considered that the need of the 

existing agricultural barn to be used permanently as staff accommodation and/or a 

family home, on a year-round basis, has not been justified and would not therefore 

accord with Policy H7 of the Maldon LDP.  The preamble of policy H7 advises that 

“The application must demonstrate that new residential accommodation on that site 

Page 23



 
is essential, rather than convenient, for the enterprise” and it is not considered that 

this has been demonstrated.   

 
5.3 Impact on Residential Amenity 

 

5.3.1 The basis of policy D1 of the approved LDP seeks to ensure that development will 

protect the amenity of its surrounding areas taking into account privacy, overlooking, 

outlook, noise, smell, light, visual impact, pollution, daylight and sunlight.  This is 

supported by section C07 of the MDDG (2017) 

 

5.3.2 Due to the remote location of the proposed property, around 75m away from any 

nearby properties, it would not cause harm to the amenities of any neighbouring 

residents.  

 

5.3.3 Whilst the occupier of the proposed property could be subject to some noise 

disturbance from ongoing operations at the vineyard during the day, given the nature 

of the proposal to be used in association with the vineyard, it would not be 

reasonable to object to the proposal on these grounds.  

 

5.4 Access, Parking and Highway Safety 

 

5.4.1 Policy T1 of the approved LDP seeks to create additional sustainable transport 

opportunities.  Policy T2 aims to create and maintain an accessible environment, 

requiring development proposals, inter alia, to provide sufficient parking facilities 

having regard to the Council’s adopted parking standards.  Similarly, policy D1 of the 

approved LDP seeks to include safe and secure vehicle and cycle parking having 

regard to the Council’s adopted parking standards and maximise connectivity within 

the development and to the surrounding areas including the provision of high quality 

and safe pedestrian, cycle and, where appropriate, horse riding routes. 

 

5.4.2 The proposed conversion would result in the creation of a four-bedroom dwelling.  

The recommended parking provision for a four-bedroom dwelling is three car parking 

spaces, which could be accommodated to the front of the site.  

 

5.4.3 The existing access to the site would be utilised and the highway authority has been 

consulted and raised no objection to the proposal.  Therefore, no concerns in terms 

of parking, access or highway safety are raised.  

 

5.5 Private Amenity Space and Landscaping 

 

5.5.1 Policy D1 of the approved LDP requires all development to provide sufficient and 

usable private and public amenity spaces, green infrastructure and public open 

spaces.  In addition, the adopted MDDG SPD advises a suitable garden size for each 

type of dwellinghouse, namely 100m2 of private amenity space for dwellings with 

three or more bedrooms, 50m2 for smaller dwellings and 25m2 for flats. 

 

5.5.2 Although a proposed plan showing the extent of garden area proposed has not been 

included with the application, it is stated in the Planning Statement that the garden 

Page 24



 
area would be reduced from 330 sqm to 150sqm which would be in excess of 100m2.  

Therefore, no concerns in this respect are raised. 

 

5.5.3 A condition in respect of the landscaping scheme and boundary treatments would be 

imposed should the application be approved.  

 

5.6 Ecology regarding development within the Zone of Influence (ZoI) for the Essex 

Coast Recreational Avoidance Mitigation Strategy (RAMS) 

 

5.6.1 The application site falls within the ‘Zone of Influence’ (ZoI) for one or more of the 

European designated sites scoped into the emerging Essex Coast RAMS.  This 

means that residential developments could potentially have a significant effect on the 

sensitive interest features of these coastal European designated sites, through 

increased recreational pressure etc.   

 

5.6.2 The development of one dwelling falls below the scale at which bespoke advice is 

given from Natural England (NE).  To accord with NE’s requirements and standard 

advice an Essex Coast RAMS Habitat Regulation Assessment (HRA) Record has 

been completed to assess if the development would constitute a ‘Likely Significant 

Effect’ (LSE) to a European site in terms of increased recreational disturbance.  The 

findings from HRA Stage 1: Screening Assessment are listed below: 

 

 HRA Stage 1: Screening Assessment – Test 1 - the significance test 

 

Is the development within the Zone of Influence (ZoI) for the Essex Coast RAMS with 

respect to the below sites? Yes 

 

Does the planning application fall within the following development types? Yes - The 

planning application relates to one dwelling 

 

Proceed to HRA Stage 2: Appropriate Assessment to assess recreational 

disturbance impacts on the above designated sites 

 

Test 2 – the integrity test 

 

Is the proposal for 100 houses + (or equivalent)? No  

 

Is the proposal within or directly adjacent to one of the above European designated 

sites? No   

 

5.6.3 As the answer is no, it is advised that a proportionate financial contribution should be 

secured in line with the Essex Coast RAMS requirements.  Provided this mitigation is 

secured, it can be concluded that this planning application will not have an adverse 

effect on the integrity of the above European sites from recreational disturbance, 

when considered ‘in combination’ with other development.  NE does not need to be 

re-consulted on this Appropriate Assessment. 

 

5.6.4 As the proposal is for less than 100 houses (or equivalent) and not within or directly 

adjacent to one of the designated European sites, NE would not provide bespoke 

Page 25



 
advice.  However, NE’s general advice is that a HRA should be undertaken and a 

‘proportionate financial contribution should be secured’ from the developer for it to be 

concluded that the development proposed would not have an adverse effect on the 

integrity of the European sites from recreational disturbance.  The financial 

contribution is expected to be in line with the Essex Coast RAMS requirements to 

help fund strategic ‘off site’ measures (i.e. in and around the relevant European 

designated site(s)) targeted towards increasing the site’s resilience to recreational 

pressure and in line with the aspirations of emerging RAMS. 

 

5.6.5 The Essex Coastal RAMS is currently under preparation and it therefore, constitutes 

an emerging document for the Council.  This document states that the flat rate for 

each new dwelling has been calculated at £127.30, based on the Retail Price Index 

(RPI) uplift, and thus, the developer contribution should be calculated using this 

figure.  However, in the absence of a signed legal agreement to secure the 

abovementioned contribution, the impact of the development may not be able to be 

mitigated and thus, this would constitute a reason for refusal of the application. 

 

5.7 Conclusion 

 

5.7.1 The proposed development of an agricultural workers dwelling is considered 

unacceptable in this instance.  As per the above assessment, the supporting 

information and revised plans provided have failed to overcome the reasons for 

refusal on the previous application.  The proposed development fails to accord with 

the guidance within the NPPF and policy H7, S8 and D1 of the LDP.  The evidence 

supplied is not considered adequate to sufficiently justify the functional need or 

viability of the business.  It is not considered that the harm caused by the erection of 

a dwelling in an unstainable location is outweighed by the need for an agricultural 

workers’ dwelling.  Furthermore, the change of use of the agricultural barn to a 

residential dwelling would demonstrably harm the open and undeveloped 

countryside. 

 

6. ANY RELEVANT SITE HISTORY 

 20/00229/FUL – Convert agricultural barn into vineyard manager's 

dwellinghouse with associated internal and external alterations.  Refused 

27/05/2020 for the following reasons: 

 

1. The proposed development would result in the creation of a dwelling 

outside of a defined settlement boundary, in an unsustainable location, 

remote from community services and essential support services/facilities 

and inaccessible by a range of means of transport. The proposed 

conversion of the existing agricultural building would have a detrimental 

impact on the character and appearance of the surrounding 

countryside. Inadequate evidence has been provided to demonstrate that 

an essential functional need exists for an essential workers dwelling at 

the site or that the business is viable. Therefore, it is considered that the 

harm identified is not outweighed by other material planning 

considerations.  The proposal is therefore contrary to policies S1, S8, H7, 

Page 26



 
T1 and T2 of the Maldon District Local Development Plan and the 

guidance contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

2. In the absence of a completed legal agreement pursuant to Section 106 

of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, securing a necessary 

financial contribution towards Essex Coast Recreational disturbance 

Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy or an appropriate mitigation strategy to 

overcome the impacts of the development on the European designated 

nature conservation sites, the development would have an adverse 

impact on those European designated nature conservation sites, contrary 

to Policies S1, and I1 of the Maldon District Local Development Plan and 

the NPPF.  

 17/00130/FUL – Erection of general-purpose agricultural building to 

Vineyard (amended proposal). Approved 03/04/2017 subject to S106 

(which ensured permission 16/01076/FUL would not be carried out). 

 16/01076/FUL – Erection of general-purpose agricultural building to 

vineyard. Approved 29/11/2016. 

 

7. CONSULTATIONS AND REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED 

 
7.1 Representations received from Parish / Town Councils 
 

Name of Parish / Town 
Council 

Comment Officer Response 

Woodham Mortimer and 
Hazeleigh Parish Council 

No response received at 
time of writing 

 
Noted 
 

 
7.2 Statutory Consultees and Other Organisations  
 

Name of Statutory 
Consultee / Other 
Organisation 

Comment Officer Response 

County Highways No objection 
 
Noted 
 

 
7.3 Internal Consultees  
 

Name of Internal 
Consultee 

Comment Officer Response 

Environmental Health 
Condition relating to foul 
drainage and informatives 
recommended 

Noted 

 
7.4 Representations received from Interested Parties  
 
7.4.1 No representations have been received for the application. 
 
  

Page 27



 
8. REASONS FOR REFUSAL 

 
1. The proposed development would result in the creation of a dwelling outside 

of a defined settlement boundary, in an unsustainable location, remote from 

community services and essential support services/facilities and inaccessible 

by a range of means of transport.  The proposed conversion of the existing 

agricultural building would have a detrimental impact on the character and 

appearance of the surrounding countryside.  Inadequate evidence has been 

provided to demonstrate that an essential functional need exists for an 

essential workers dwelling, of this scale, at the site or that the business is 

viable.  Therefore, it is considered that the harm identified is not outweighed 

by other material planning considerations.  The proposal is therefore contrary 

to policies S1, S8, H7, T1 and T2 of the Maldon District Local Development 

Plan and the guidance contained within the National Planning Policy 

Framework. 

 

2. In the absence of a completed legal agreement pursuant to Section 106 of the 

Town and Country Planning Act 1990, securing a necessary financial 

contribution towards Essex Coast Recreational disturbance Avoidance and 

Mitigation Strategy or an appropriate mitigation strategy to overcome the 

impacts of the development on the European designated nature conservation 

sites, the development would have an adverse impact on those European 

designated nature conservation sites, contrary to Policies S1, and I1 of the 

Maldon District Local Development Plan and the NPPF. 

Page 28



  

 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Hearing held on 2 November 2016 

Site visit made on 2 November 2016 

by A J Mageean  BA (Hons) BPl PhD MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 

Decision date: 1st December 2016 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/L3245/W/16/3152229 
Foxhall Farm, Aston, Oswestry, Shrewsbury SY11 4JQ 

 The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

 The appeal is made by RC & GM & CW Roberts against the decision of Shropshire 

Council. 

 The application Ref 16/01115/FUL, dated 11 March 2016, was refused by notice dated  

4 May 2016. 

 The development proposed is the erection of an agricultural workers’ dwelling. 
 

 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Preliminary Matters 

2. I have used the more succinct version of the site address provided on the 
appeal form in the interests of clarity. 

3. A signed Section 106 Agreement setting out the occupational restriction of the 

proposed dwelling in the event of planning permission being granted was 
presented at the Hearing.  The Council representatives indicated their 

acceptance of this document and I have no reason to take a different view.  I 
have therefore taken this into consideration in the determination of this appeal. 

Main Issue 

4. The main issue is whether the proposal would be an isolated new home in the 
countryside and, if so, whether there is an essential need for a dwelling to 

accommodate a rural worker. 

Reasons 

Background and Policy Context 

5. The appellants have occupied Foxhall Farm for around the past 30 years.  This 
is a family run business involving both parents and their three children, all of 

whom currently live in the Farm House.  Whilst the appeal documentation 
states that all five family members work full time on the Farm, it was 
confirmed at the Hearing that due to health issues one of the daughters, Sally, 

is no longer working on the Farm.  The possibility of the recruitment of an 

APPENDIX 1

Page 29



Appeal Decision APP/L3245/W/16/3152229 
 

 
       2 

additional worker to replace Sally was discussed at the Hearing, though no firm 

plans have been made at this stage.    

6. This agricultural enterprise extends to just over 200 hectares (ha), around 103 

ha of which is owned by the Farm and a further area of around 98 ha is rented 
under grazing agreements.  Most of this land area is used for grass forage and 
grazing which supports the primary dairy and beef business, though additional 

income is gained from corn crops.  The buildings around the Farm House are 
the main focus of dairy operations. 

7. The proposed dwelling would be located on part of a grass field which lies 
adjacent to the access lane leading to the main buildings at Foxhall Farm.  It 
would provide accommodation for one of the younger family members working 

on the Farm, to enable them to move out of the main Farm House, but still be 
within sight and sound of the main dairy farm operations.  The site is not 

located within any settlement boundaries and is therefore classed as open 
countryside for the purpose of interpreting planning policy. 

8. The relevant policies in this case are Policy CS5 and CS6 of the Shropshire 

Local Development Framework: Adopted Core Strategy (2011) (the Core 
Strategy) and Policy MD7a of the Shropshire Council Site Allocations and 

Management of Development Plan (2015) (the SAMDev).  Also of relevance is 
the Type and Affordability of Housing Supplementary Planning Document 
(2012) (the SPD).   

9. These policies are consistent with the National Planning Policy Framework (the 
Framework) in seeking to ensure that residential development in countryside 

locations outside settlement boundaries is strictly controlled.  In this respect 
the Framework states that one of the special circumstances in which 
development could be allowed is “the essential need for a rural worker to live 

permanently at or near their place of work”1.   

10. SAMDev Policy MD7a further defines the circumstances in which exceptions to 

these strict controls may be made.  Of particular relevance to this case, which 
seeks to provide an additional farm workers’ dwelling on this site, is that it 
must provide for “a worker who is required to be present at the enterprise for 

the majority of the time” and in this respect ”a functional need is 
demonstrated” 2.   

11. I accept the appellants’ point that SAMDev Policy MD7a does not require that 
additional workers’ dwellings meet the same tests as those set for primary 
dwellings.  In particular, proposals for additional dwellings are not required to 

demonstrate that “the business is viable in the long term and that the cost of 
the dwelling can be funded through the business”.  However, in order to justify 

an exception to national and local policies requiring that new development in 
rural locations be strictly controlled, it is necessary to demonstrate functional 

or essential need.  My view is that such consideration must include whether or 
not the business is financially sustainable, including the viability of the business 
moving forward.   

   

 

                                       
1 The Framework, paragraph 55. 
2 SAMDev Policy MD7a, 2c. 

APPENDIX 1

Page 30



Appeal Decision APP/L3245/W/16/3152229 
 

 
       3 

Essential Need 

12. Details of the nature of the current enterprise and plans for its expansion were 
discussed at the Hearing.  I note particularly the increase in the level of calf 

rearing, now up to 80 calves, and the renting of additional land and buildings at 
Bromwick Park and Rowe Farm to support this.  I also note the plans to re-
introduce ice cream making and selling into the business.  I therefore accept 

that, considering the Standard Man Day requirements for such an enterprise, 
as set out in the appellants’ Statement of Case, the current levels of 

employment are required by the business. 

13. Detailed information about the current and projected future financial health of 
this business was not presented.  The accountant’s letter presented as part of 

the appeal documentation confirms that investment has been made in farm 
facilities over recent years and that profits in excess of £42,000 per annum 

have been made.  It was also stated at the Hearing that it was hoped that 
annual profits would increase to £60,000 during the current financial year, 
though no evidence to corroborate this forecast or illustrate how it would be 

achieved was presented.  My view is therefore that insufficient evidence has 
been presented to demonstrate the sustainability of this business, including 

how the current workforce, and any future expansion, is and would be 
supported. 

14. Nevertheless, the parties have agreed in the Statement of Common Ground 

that the nature of this business means that there is a need for more than one 
worker to live on the site.  In this respect it is clear to me that the current 

dairy operations, which require attention at all times of the day and night 
throughout the year, may lead to situations in which a second worker is 
required to be on hand at short notice to deal with medical or other 

emergencies.  The accommodation needs of two farm workers can clearly be 
met in the existing Farm House. 

15. Looking at the need for two or three further farm workers, whilst I accept that 
additional workers are required to support farm operations during a typical 
working day, a case has not been made for them to be on hand at all times.  In 

this respect it is not clear why the accommodation requirements of these 
additional workers cannot be met elsewhere, such as in local villages or the 

nearby town of Oswestry, located some 4km away.  Information submitted by 
the Council suggests that there is some reasonably priced accommodation 
available in this area, which in terms of costs is comparable to the cost of 

constructing a new dwelling on a greenfield site.  On this basis a functional 
need for additional accommodation on this site has not been demonstrated. 

16. I recognise that the family has reached the stage where the children, who are 
now in their early twenties, would like to set up their own homes away from 

the Farm House.  Looking at other opportunities on the Farm itself, I am 
satisfied that the other buildings on this site are currently in use and therefore 
not available for conversion into living accommodation.  It would clearly be cost 

effective and convenient to build a new dwelling on land already owned by the 
business, and living on the Farm would reduce the need to travel to work.  

However, such considerations do not in themselves justify building in this rural 
location, recognising that in such areas “housing should be located where it will 

APPENDIX 1

Page 31



Appeal Decision APP/L3245/W/16/3152229 
 

 
       4 

enhance or maintain the vitality or rural communities”3, which in Shropshire is 

focused on the identified community hubs and community clusters4. 

17. I conclude in this matter that the proposal would, in policy terms, represent an 

isolated new home in the countryside.  I also conclude that an essential need 
for a dwelling to accommodate a rural worker has not been demonstrated.  In 
this respect the proposal would therefore conflict with Core Strategy Policies 

CS5 and CS6, SAMDev Policy MD7a, the SPD and paragraph 55 of the 
Framework.  

Other Matters 

18. The appellants suggest that even if the proposed dwelling were to be 
constructed and then at some future stage was no longer required to 

accommodate farm workers, the Section 106 agreement would secure it as 
affordable accommodation which would help provide for local needs.  However, 

this outcome would not be consistent with the established criteria for the 
identification of exception sites for the development of affordable homes in 
Shropshire.  In particular, it would conflict with Policy CS11 of the Core 

Strategy which permits “exception schemes for local needs affordable housing 
on suitable sites in and adjoining Shrewsbury, Market Towns and Other Key 

Centres, Community Hubs, Community Clusters and recognisable named 
settlements, subject to suitable scale, design, tenure and prioritisation for local 
people and arrangements to ensure affordability in perpetuity”.   Whilst I 

accept that this proposed dwelling would meet these criteria in terms of design, 
scale and affordability, it would clearly conflict with locational criteria.  Such 

considerations are therefore not material to the determination of this case. 

19. The appellants also point to the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development, and the environmental, social and economic dimensions of 

sustainability set out in the Framework.  In this respect, I accept that the 
proposed dwelling has been designed to integrate with the other Farm buildings 

and thereby reduce its visual impact.  I also accept that such a dwelling could 
have some social benefits by enabling a young person to live and work in this 
area.  However, as noted above, the economic basis for this development, in 

terms of both the financial case and specifically the functional need for more 
than two workers to be present at all times, has not been demonstrated.  My 

view is that these economic considerations outweigh the limited environmental 
and social benefits. 

Conclusion  

20. For the reasons set out above I conclude that the appeal should be dismissed. 

 

AJ Mageean 

INSPECTOR 

 

 

                                       
3 The Framework, paragraph 55. 
4 The Core Strategy, Policy CS1. 

APPENDIX 1

Page 32



Appeal Decision APP/L3245/W/16/3152229 
 

 
       5 

APPEARANCES 

FOR THE APPELLANT 

Mr C Roberts    Appellant 

Mrs G Roberts   Appellant  

Mr S Thomas   Appellants’ Agent 

 

FOR THE LOCAL PLANNING AUTHORITY 
 

Mr P Mullineux   Principal Planner 
      (Not present at site visit) 

Mr M Perry    Case Officer   

 

INTERESTED PARTIES 

Ms A Newport   Agent’s PA 
      (Not present at site visit)  
 

 
DOCUMENTS 

 
1. Signed Section 106 agreement, dated 1 November 2016, relating to the 

occupation restriction of the development which is the subject of the 

planning appeal.   

 

APPENDIX 1

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the last meeting
	5 20/01337/FUL - Barn At Old Mill House Vineyard Hazeleigh Hall Lane Woodham Mortimer.
	Appendix 1




